1997

William Anthony Kraatz v. Heritage Imports, Heritage Honda, O. Bryan Wilkinson, Jeffrey J. Wilkinson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca2

 Part of the [Law Commons](#)

Original Brief Submitted to the Utah Court of Appeals; digitized by the Howard W. Hunter Law Library, J. Reuben Clark Law School, Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Kent B. Linebaugh; Michael N. Zundel; Jennie B. Garner; Jardine Linebaugh and Dunn; Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant & Cross-Appellee.

Donald J. Winder; Jennifer L. Falk; Winder and Haslam, P.C.; Attorneys for Defendants/Appellees and Cross-Appellants.

Recommended Citation

Brief of Appellant, *Kraatz v. Heritage Imports*, No. 970044 (Utah Court of Appeals, 1997).
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca2/646

This Brief of Appellant is brought to you for free and open access by BYU Law Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Utah Court of Appeals Briefs by an authorized administrator of BYU Law Digital Commons. Policies regarding these Utah briefs are available at http://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/utah_court_briefs/policies.html. Please contact the Repository Manager at hunterlawlibrary@byu.edu with questions or feedback.

IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

WILLIAM ANTHONY KRAATZ,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

vs.

HERITAGE IMPORTS, a Utah corporation,
dba HERITAGE HONDA, O. BRYAN
WILKINSON and JEFFREY J.
WILKINSON,

Defendants and Appellees.

APPENDIX TO APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Volume 2 (Appendix C)

Case No. 970044-CA

Priority No. 15

Donald J. Winder, Esq.
Dennis V. Haslam, Esq.
Jennifer L. Falk, Esq.
Winder & Haslam
175 West 200 South
P.O. Box 2668
Salt Lake City, UT 84110
Telephone: (801) 322-2222

Kent B Linebaugh, Esq.
Michael N. Zundel, Esq.
Jennie B. Garner, Esq.
Jardine Linebaugh & Dunn
370 East South Temple, Suite 400
Salt Lake City, UT 84111
Telephone: (801) 532-7700

970044-CA

FILED

DEC 16 1997

COURT OF APPEALS

IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

WILLIAM ANTHONY KRAATZ,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

vs.

HERITAGE IMPORTS, a Utah corporation,
dba HERITAGE HONDA, O. BRYAN
WILKINSON and JEFFREY J.
WILKINSON,

Defendants and Appellees.

APPENDIX TO APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Volume 2 (Appendix C)

Case No. 970044-CA

Priority No. 15

Donald J. Winder, Esq.
Dennis V. Haslam, Esq.
Jennifer L. Falk, Esq.
Winder & Haslam
175 West 200 South
P.O. Box 2668
Salt Lake City, UT 84110
Telephone: (801) 322-2222

Kent B Linebaugh, Esq.
Michael N. Zundel, Esq.
Jennie B. Garner, Esq.
Jardine Linebaugh & Dunn
370 East South Temple, Suite 400
Salt Lake City, UT 84111
Telephone: (801) 532-7700

APPENDIX C

Transcript Excerpts

Kraatz Direct Examination

R.1746
R.1746-47
R.1748
R.1762-63
R.1769
R.1770
R.1770-71
R.1771
R.1771-72
R.1772
R.1775
R.1776
R.1780
R.1782-83
R.1783
R.1783-84
R.1784
R.1786-89
R.1793
R.1794
R.1795
R.1808-11
R.1809
R.1809-11
R.1811
R.1811-12
R.1813
R.1819-20
R.1820
R.1820-22
R.1822-23
R.1824
R.1834
R.1837-38

Kraatz Cross Examination

R.1854
R.1854-55

R.1863

R.1864

B. Wilkinson Direct Examination by M.N. Zundel

R.1871

R.1875-76

R.1876

R.1876-77

R.1877

R.1878

R.1881

R.1882

R.1885-86

R.1890

R.1901-03

R.1922-23

R.1923

R.1925

R.1927

R.1928

R.1932

R.1933

R.1936

R.1937-39

R.1937-40

R.1938

R.1938-39

R.1939

R.1940

R.1940-41

R.1941

B. Wilkinson Cross Examination by M.N. Zundel

R.1947-2002

R.1947-52

R.1949

R.1949-50

R.1950

R.1951

R.1952

R.1952-54

R.1952-55

R.1955
R.1955-73
R.1956-57
R.1956-73
R.1957
R.1958
R.1960
R.1960-62
R.1962-63
R.1965
R.1969
R.1971
R.1972
R.1974
R.1976
R.1977
R.1977-78
R.1978
R.1978-79
R.1979
R.1979-80
R.1980
R.1984-85
R.1986
R.1988-89
R.1997
R.1998-2000
R.1998-99
R.1999
R.1999-2000
R.2000
R.2001

B. Wilkinson Direct Examination by D.J. Winder

R.2006
R.2010
R.2020
R.2024
R.2027
R.2029
R.2031
R.2033-41 (Heritage's Reasons for Discharge)

R.2034
R.2034-35
R.2035
R.2035-36
R.2035-37
R.2036-37
R.2037
R.2037-40
R.2040
R.2041

D. Hartmann Direct Examination and Cross Examination

R.2044-45
R.2045-46
R.2047
R.2049-51
R.2050
R.2051
R.2052-53
R.2053
R.2058-62
R.2059

L. Miller Cross Examination by M.N. Zundel

R.2071
R.2076
R.2076-77
R.2081-82
R.2083-84
R.2086-87
R.2087-88
R.2091-92

B. Wisan, C.P.A., Direct Examination

R.2118

C. Terry Direct Examination

R.2157
R.2160

C. Christensen, C.P.A., Direct Examination

R.2164-70
R.2182

L. Miller Direct Examination by M.N. Zundel

R.2186

R.2200

R.2205

R.2206

R.2220

R.2221

B. Wisan Direct Examination

R.2232

M. Schmitz Direct Examination

R.2235-37

R.2255-58

R.2261-62

R.2262

M. Schmitz Cross Examination by D.J. Winder

R.2323-24

J. Wilkinson Direct Examination by M.N. Zundel

R.2349

R.2350

R.2350-51

R.2351-54

R.2352

R.2357

R.2358

R.2359

R.2360

R.2362-63

R.2362-70

R.2363

R.2364

R.2365

R.2365-66

R.2367-68

R.2367-70

R.2368

R.2369

R.2369-70

R.2372-73

R.2374-75

R.2375
R.2375-76
R.2380
R.2381

P. Nichols Direct Examination
R.2407-11

L. Miller Direct Examination by D.J. Winder
R.2418-19

Closing Argument by D.J. Winder for Heritage
R.2456
R.2461

Oral Findings and Conclusions
R.2468
R.2469
R.2470

Appendix C
(Transcript Excerpts)

R.1700

KRAATZ DIRECT EXAMINATION
R.1746-48

1 corporate officer, that is true.

2 THE COURT: That's sufficient. Ms. Green, please
3 wait in the hallway.

4 Go ahead, Mr. Zundel, let's get on with it.

5 MR. ZUNDEL: Thank you, Judge.

6 DIRECT EXAMINATION

7 BY MR. ZUNDEL:

8 Q Mr. Kraatz, please state your name and address
9 for the record.

10 A William Anthony Kraatz, 6374 Hughes Canyon Drive.

11 Q Mr. Kraatz, where are you presently employed?

12 A I am presently employed with Warner Imports dba
13 Rick Warner Nissan.

14 Q What's your position?

15 A I'm a general manager.

16 Q And that's over the Nissan store here in downtown
17 Salt Lake?

18 A Yes, it is.

19 Q And this -- just prior to the time that you
20 accepted employment with Heritage, one of the defendants in
21 this case, where you were employed?

22 A I was employed by Anthony Wade, Inc., a dealership
23 in St. George, Utah.

24 Q And what was your position there?

25 A I was corporate officer and manager of the store.

1 Q Was that store successful under your management?
2 A Yes, it was.
3 Q Can you tell me, sir, what's your wife's name?
4 A Wendy.
5 Q Is she here?
6 A She is.
7 MR. ZUNDEL: And your Honor, Wendy Kraatz will
8 likely testify and she would be covered by the exclusionary
9 rule.
10 THE COURT: Who is Wendy Kraatz?
11 Ma'am, I'll ask you to wait out in the hallway,
12 too.
13 Now, are there any other persons in the courtroom
14 who expect to be called as witnesses who are not parties?
15 MR. ZUNDEL: Not that I see, Judge.
16 THE COURT: Well, one by one we're getting there.
17 Go ahead, counsel.
18 Q (By Mr. Zundel:) And your son Carson --
19 A Yeah?
20 Q -- he's here but not expected to testify.
21 A That's correct.
22 Q And you graduated from West High School?
23 A No, I graduated from Highland High School.
24 Q Okay, and you're 47 years old?
25 A I am 48 years old.

1 Q Had a birthday since I last talked to you?

2 A Yeah.

3 Q Can you tell the Court how long you've been in

4 the car business?

5 A I've been in the car business for about 25 or six

6 years.

7 Q Can you describe for the Court what experience

8 you've had in the car business?

9 A I was a salesman for approximately three years

10 for Wagstaff Toyota. I was a general manager for what was

11 Clark dealership in -- on 27th South and Main in Salt

12 Lake City for a while and became the general manager of

13 that store. As it moved to North Salt Lake, I was then the

14 general manager and dealer-owner of a dealership in St.

15 George, started out as B & K Financial Resources, Inc., which

16 was the corporate name for St. George Mazda Jeep. It late

17 became Anthony Wade. I was a general manager pretty much

18 all the time I was there in St. George.

19 Q Now, you were with Anthony Wade at the time you

20 say you decided to take this position with Heritage?

21 A Yes.

22 Q How long have you known Bryan Wilkinson?

23 A I think I met Bryan about 1982.

24 Q And what -- in what context did you meet Mr.

25 Wilkinson?

KRAATZ DIRECT EXAMINATION
R.1762-63

1 A Yes.

2 Q And who else was present?

3 A Mr. Wilkinson's attorney, Bill Prater.

4 THE COURT: Who?

5 THE WITNESS: Bill Prater.

6 MR. ZUNDEL: Prater, your Honor.

7 Q (By Mr. Zundel:) Will you describe for the Court
8 who said what about this issue?

9 A Well, the concerns that I had was that I was
10 going to leave something that I had worked to build for 13
11 years in St. George and I didn't want to come up to Salt
12 Lake and have --

13 MR. WINDER: I'm going to object, Judge, as being
14 nonresponsive. The question was who said what to whom.

15 THE COURT: Correct. The objection is sustained.

16 You have to answer the question, sir, Mr. Kraatz,
17 so listen carefully to the question.

18 Q (By Mr. Zundel:) Do you remember what you said
19 to Mr. Wilkinson and those present?

20 A Yes, I was concerned that I would have a --

21 Q What you said to them.

22 A Yes. I told them that I was concerned, that I
23 have a contract that basically couldn't be ended. A lot of
24 the things that were going on in Salt Lake I was not as
25 familiar with as they were. I had been working in St. George

1 for 13 years and trying to build a business down there and I
2 wanted to make sure that the reasons that he could let me
3 go or cancel the contract were very specific.

4 Q So you came up with this list?

5 A Yes.

6 Q Were there any other reasons discussed for which
7 Mr. Wilkinson said he could let you go other than those
8 set forth in this contract?

9 A These were the only ones.

10 Q Now, let me direct your attention to Exhibit B
11 of the contract. Do you have that? That's Bates number
12 54279.

13 THE COURT: It's called a schedule, counsel,
14 schedule B.

15 MR. ZUNDEL: That's right.

16 THE WITNESS: Could you tell me what page
17 that's on?

18 Q (By Mr. Zundel:) 54279 is the number.

19 Can you tell me what your understanding is of
20 what your stock appreciation rights were as defined here in
21 Exhibit Schedule B?

22 THE COURT: Is your anticipation that he will
23 testify to something other than what is contained in
24 Schedule B?

25 MR. ZUNDEL: No.

KRAATZ DIRECT EXAMINATION
R.1769

1 A That's correct.

2 Q Would you describe the home?

3 A It was a rambler style home in Bloomington. It
4 was on half an acre of land. It was about 5,000 square feet.
5 It was about -- I had built the home in 1979.

6 THE COURT: Is this helpful to me, counsel?

7 MR. ZUNDEL: Only -- only to understand why it
8 was taking so long to sell it and the parties' intent.

9 THE COURT: Well, I'm not sure it matters to me
10 why it took so long to sell it. What matters to me is the
11 agreement to pay and the continuation of the payment.

12 MR. ZUNDEL: Okay.

13 THE COURT: All right.

14 Q (By Mr. Zundel:) Now, let me show you what's
15 been marked as Exhibit 135. Do you recognize that document?

16 A This is the Heritage Honda employee policy manual.

17 Q Was a copy of this document given to you at the
18 time you became an employee at Heritage?

19 A Yes, it was.

20 THE COURT: Any objection to 135?

21 MR. WINDER: No.

22 THE COURT: It's received.

23 Q (By Mr. Zundel:) Did you read the document?

24 A I read through it, yes.

25 Q And were the policies in this manual in place,

KRAATZ DIRECT EXAMINATION
R.1770-72

1 to the best of your understanding?

2 A That was my understanding.

3 MR. WINDER: I'm going to object, Judge, to his
4 understanding without some foundation. Ask that the answer
5 be stricken.

6 THE COURT: Well, the exhibit's been received.
7 He's testified that he read it and I don't know what more
8 there is beyond that.

9 Q (By Mr. Zundel:) Let's talk for a minute. Can
10 you explain when you came to work for Heritage what your
11 normal work week was?

12 A I would typically get to the dealership between
13 7:30 and eight. I would walk through the service department,
14 parts department, generally see those employees that were
15 there earlier.

16 Q How long did you work in it during the week?

17 A How many days or --

18 Q How many days and hours.

19 A I would say 50 to 60 hours a week, sometimes more.
20 I would work typically five days, but sometimes I'd work
21 part of a Saturday or part of a Sunday at home or sometimes
22 I'd work at home after hours.

23 Q How often did you take work home?

24 A I'd say fairly often.

25 Q Can you just --

1 A Two or three days a week.

2 Q Two or three days a week? And did you carry a
3 cell phone with you?

4 A I did.

5 Q And were you able to be reached if needed when --
6 in your off hours?

7 A Yes.

8 Q Did you have employment anywhere else other than
9 Heritage?

10 A I did not.

11 Q Did you give your best professional skill to
12 Heritage?

13 A I did.

14 Q There came a time when you were terminated at
15 Heritage?

16 A Yes.

17 Q And that was on September 11, 1992?

18 A Yes.

19 Q And do you remember how you received notice of
20 your termination?

21 A Mr. Wilkinson asked me to come up and see him
22 that afternoon. I went up there, I think it was about four
23 o'clock, 4:30, something like that, and I went into his
24 office. Mr. Wilkinson and Helen Green were sitting at his
25 conference table. I sat down. It was a very short meeting.

1 Bry told me that he wanted to ask for my resignation, that
2 he could not continue to be between -- that he could not
3 continue to have me between he and his kids and that he was
4 giving me 60 days notice and he would continue to pay me
5 for 60 days and that was pretty much the meeting.

6 Q Did he level any criticism at you in the meeting
7 as to failure to do your duties at Heritage?

8 A No, other than just saying that he didn't want me
9 to be between he and his kids.

10 Q Did Helen Green say anything during the meeting?

11 A Not that I recall.

12 Q How did you respond?

13 A Mr. Wilkinson asked me several times for my
14 resignation. I declined to give that to him, told him if he
15 wanted me out of there, I would leave, but I wasn't going
16 to resign. We had an agreement, we had a contract.

17 Q And then you left the meeting?

18 A I did.

19 Q Did you then receive -- what was the next -- did
20 you thereafter receive written notification of termination?

21 A Yes, I did.

22 Q Let me show you what's been marked as Exhibit 64.
23 Is that a copy of the letter that you received?

24 A Yes, it is.

25 THE COURT: Any objection?

KRAATZ DIRECT EXAMINATION
R.1775-76

1 MR. ZUNDEL: Thank you, Judge.

2 THE WITNESS: Could you repeat the question,
3 please?

4 THE COURT: How did you feel when you got this
5 letter?

6 THE WITNESS: I was very upset, disturbed. I
7 didn't think it was true and I felt like I had done things
8 that were right by Bryan and by the dealership.

9 Q (by Mr. Zundel:) What did you -- did you do
10 anything in response to receiving this letter?

11 A I had talked to a number of people over the
12 weekend. It was a Friday when I was terminated and I had
13 talked to a number of people, was very concerned about his
14 saying that I had been dishonest.

15 Q Did you talk with Bry?

16 A Not over the weekend I didn't.

17 Q Did you call him after that?

18 A No, Bry and I in our September 11th meeting had
19 agreed to meet on the following Tuesday to -- because Bry
20 had promised me the use of two vehicles, the one that my
21 wife had been using and he was going to trade the one that
22 he was driving so that I could drive that one, and I was
23 going to come back on Tuesday to pick that up after he had
24 had a chance to clean it out and get his stuff out of there.

25 Q When you say you had agreed to meet, was it for

1 any other purpose other than just to trade vehicles?

2 A That was really the main purpose of the second
3 meeting.

4 Q And so did you go to Bry's office on Tuesday?

5 A Yes, I did.

6 Q And do you remember if anyone else was present
7 when you met with him?

8 A No, I don't recall that anybody was there.

9 Q Do you remember what you said, what he said?

10 A Yes, I -- my initial comments to Bry were, "I'm
11 really upset about this letter that I received from you.
12 You say that I'm dishonest and I didn't do my job, and I
13 just can't believe that you'd say that about me."
14 And he said, "That's not what I meant." He
15 referred to another section of the agreement.

16 Q What did he refer to?

17 A He referred to, I believe, page 2, items B and C,
18 and said that that's what he meant and that he would never
19 say that I was dishonest and he did not think I was dishonest.

20 Q Was anything more said in the -- between you in
21 this meeting?

22 A Yes, we talked about a number of things, the
23 continuation of my involvement with the Lariat or Ryan
24 Insurance that I was involved with him, and he he said that
25 he would continue that for at least a couple more years. He

KRAATZ DIRECT EXAMINATION
R.1780

1 Q Who was Helen Green?

2 A Helen Green was a controller that worked for Bry
3 and his father for many years.

4 Q And she was the general manager before you became
5 the general manager?

6 A That's right.

7 Q And you demoted her when you came?

8 A Well, I think Bry demoted her. I came in and
9 took over her position. When I started on a Sunday afternoon,
10 I went down there to the dealership to start moving my
11 things in, and Helen was there in the process of moving
12 her things out, so I helped her for a few minutes and we
13 talked a little bit.

14 Q Going back to this September 11 meeting -- prior
15 to the September 11 meeting, had Bry -- had you received any
16 written reprimands on your job performance?

17 A No, I had not.

18 Q Had you received any indication that your job was
19 in jeopardy?

20 A No.

21 Q For any reason?

22 A No.

23 Q September 11 was the first you knew?

24 A Complete surprise.

25 Q Let me show you what's been marked as Exhibit 69.

KRAATZ DIRECT EXAMINATION
R.1782-84

1 them about Southtowne. That was the proposed dealership in
2 Sandy -- or Southtowne, so that I would have his authoriza-
3 tion to try to move that forward, and the third is a letter
4 stating that he did not want me to work at the dealership
5 during the 60-day period, that I would not just not show up
6 for work, but he was telling me that I was not expected to
7 show up for work during that 60-day period.

8 Q Did he tell you why he didn't want you to come to
9 work during the 60-day notice period?

10 A Just for the same reasons that he said that he
11 terminated me.

12 Q Let's look at the employment agreement on page 2,
13 B and C. B says, "The duties and responsibilities of the
14 employee shall include but not be limited to responsibility
15 to provide management training to persons selected by the
16 company."

17 Were persons selected by the company for you to
18 train during your employment?

19 A Yes.

20 Q And who were they?

21 A I think principally Bry's children along with --
22 there were certainly other employees to be trained, but that
23 was the specific -- one of the specifics.

24 Q Who are Bry's children?

25 A Jeffrey Wilkinson, Matthew Wilkinson, Lynlee

1 Wilkinson, and his son-in-law, Jeffrey Gorringer.

2 Q Now, when you arrived at the dealership, what
3 position did Jeff Wilkinson hold?

4 A I believe he was the general sales manager at
5 that time.

6 Q Okay. Let's just take a minute and go over
7 what's been marked as Exhibit Number 324.

8 I'd move for the admission of Exhibit 324, Judge,
9 and have the witness explain what it is. You don't have one
10 there, your Honor. I'll hand you this one. It's this
11 large schematic.

12 THE COURT: As illustrative of the -- this is the
13 authority chart or --

14 MR. ZUNDEL: Yes, your Honor.

15 THE COURT: Any objection, Mr. Winder?

16 MR. WINDER: For illustrative purposes, no. I'd
17 like a little foundation, though, about when it was prepared
18 and by whom and that sort of thing.

19 Q (By Mr. Zundel:) Okay. Looking at Exhibit 324,
20 did you help prepare this document?

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