1997

William Anthony Kraatz v. Heritage Imports, a Utah corporation dba Heritage Honda, O. Bryan Wilkinson, and Jeff J. Wilkinson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

The trial in this matter commenced without a jury on Tuesday, August 27, 1996, at the hour of 10:00 a.m. Michael N. Zundel, Esq. and Jeffrey J. Devashrayee, Esq. appeared for the Plaintiff, and Plaintiff Anthony Kraatz ("Kraatz") was personally present for the trial. Donald J. Winder, Esq. and Jennifer L. Falk, Esq. appeared for the defendant Heritage Imports, Inc. dba Heritage Honda, dba Larry H. Miller Honda (the "Dealership") and individual defendants O. Bryan Wilkinson ("B. Wilkinson") and Jeff J. Wilkinson ("J. Wilkinson") were personally present. (The Dealership and the individual defendants are sometimes collectively referred to as "Heritage".) The Court, having heard the arguments of counsel, the testimony of the witnesses, having received and reviewed the exhibits admitted into evidence, and being otherwise fully advised in the premises, and for good cause appearing, now makes and enters its Findings of Fact.

WRITTEN FINDINGS OF FACT

A. History of the Case

1. Heritage Honda is a family owned corporation whose main asset was an automobile dealership located in Murray, Utah. At all relevant times, B. Wilkinson was the majority shareholder of the Corporation (Dealership) until April of 1993, when he sold his stock to Larry H. Miller. (Joint Pretrial Order, ¶ III.C., p. 8.)

2. J. Wilkinson is the second son of B. Wilkinson and, at all relevant times, was an officer, director and minority shareholder of the Dealership. (Id., ¶ III.F.)

3. Lynlee Wilkinson, Wendy Gorringer and Matt Wilkinson are also B. Wilkinson's children, and at all relevant times were officers, directors and minority shareholders in the Dealership.

4. On or about January 15, 1993, Plaintiff filed his Complaint, alleging damages against Defendants in the amount of \$3,507,980.00, together with interest, and punitive damages against J. Wilkinson and B. Wilkinson.

5. The Complaint alleges seven Causes of Action against Heritage:

a. Breach of employment agreement against the Dealership (First Cause of Action, ¶¶ 20-22);

b. Breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing against the Dealership (Second Cause of Action, ¶¶ 23-26);

c. Alter ego liability of B. Wilkinson (Third Cause of Action, ¶¶ 27-31);

d. Tortious interference with contractual and prospective economic relations by B. Wilkinson (Fourth and Fifth Causes of Action, ¶¶ 32-49); and

e. Tortious interference for contractual and prospective relations by J. Wilkinson (Sixth and Seventh Causes of Action, ¶¶ 50-66).

6. Attached as Exhibit "A" to the Complaint is a copy of the written Employment Agreement ("Agreement") entered into

between the Dealership and Plaintiff on May 31, 1990, which was introduced as Exhibit 38.

7. On or about March 22, 1993, Defendants filed their Answer denying all of Plaintiff's allegations.

8. During discovery, Plaintiff took 27 volumes of depositions and innumerable documents were produced by the Dealership and third parties to Plaintiff.

B. Contract Negotiations

1. In spring of 1990, B. Wilkinson inquired of Plaintiff whether he would be interested in becoming the Dealership's general manager. Plaintiff expressed interest because he was dissatisfied with his then present employment. (R. 1865; 2010-11.)

2. B. Wilkinson told Plaintiff he wanted to remove himself from day-to-day involvement in the Dealership due to various personal problems of which Plaintiff was aware. (R. 2010-12.)

3. B. Wilkinson also told Plaintiff the Dealership was not presently doing as well as he would like. B. Wilkinson and Plaintiff had been good friends and, over the years, had many discussions about how the Dealership was performing. (R. 2010-12.)

4. Plaintiff was allowed access to all financial records of the Dealership. (R. 2015-16.)

Specifically, Plaintiff recalls receiving some financial statements for 1988, all for 1989, and the April financial statements for 1990. (R. 1855.)

5. Plaintiff admitted he told B. Wilkinson that the Dealership should make \$1 million a year with Plaintiff as the general manager. (R. 1852.)

6. Plaintiff told B. Wilkinson the gross margin per car the Dealership was then receiving was low, and Plaintiff claimed he could raise it if he were general manager. (R. 1854.)

7. Plaintiff testified he was made aware of B. Wilkinson's spending habits before he ever signed the Agreement during a dinner meeting with B. Wilkinson's children, Matt Wilkinson, Wendy Gorringer, and her husband, Jeff Gorringer. (R. 1864.)

8. According to Plaintiff's opinion witness, Mark D. Schmitz, a Honda franchise "is a license to steal". (R. 2339.)

9. Plaintiff's counsel prepared the initial draft of an employment agreement. (Kraatz Tr., p. 10; Ex. 589 ("Draft Agreement").) (R. 1849.)

10. All of Plaintiff's duties set forth in Section 1.2, from the Draft Agreement, were incorporated into the Agreement. (Ex. 38) A new subparagraph c. was added to paragraph 2.1 of the Draft Agreement, providing that Plaintiff's employment could be terminated for "Refusal by Employee to fulfill his

employment responsibilities described in Article I of this Agreement." (Ex. 38, 589.)

11. B. Wilkinson denies ever saying Plaintiff had a "no-cut" contract. (R. 2006.)

12. Pat Nichols, an employee, was present at the employee meeting at which Plaintiff was introduced as general manager. Nichols does not recall B. Wilkinson making any reference to a "no-cut" contract at that time or any other time. (R. 2408.)

C. Employment Agreement

1. Plaintiff's employment with the Dealership commenced on June 1, 1990, and continued until September 11, 1992. He received pay through November 11, 1992. (Joint Pretrial Order, ¶ III.E., p. 8.)

2. In the Recitals to the Agreement, Plaintiff represented he had the:

skills, personality traits and management skills, which are conducive to development and maintenance of such interpersonal relations, management of personnel, financing and sales and operating of an automobile dealership
. . . .

(Ex. 38 at p. 1.)

3. The Agreement required Plaintiff, as the Dealership's general manager, to:

provide day-to-day management over the operations of the Dealership, including managing the new and used car sales department, service department, parts department, and financing and insurance department. Employee

shall have responsibility and authority over all aspects of the daily operations

(Id. at ¶ 1.2(a).)

4. The Agreement also required Plaintiff to provide management training to persons selected by Company to enable said persons to become qualified dealers or managers acceptable to American Honda, Incorporated

(Id., ¶ 1.2(b).)

5. Plaintiff testified he knew it was his duty under the Employment Agreement to train J. Wilkinson. (R. 1782-83, 1794.)

6. The Agreement required Plaintiff to contribute "his best professional skill to perform the Services at all times for the business and benefit of the Company" and to "devote his full and exclusive time to perform the Services" required of him as general manager. (Id., ¶ 1.2(c).)

D. Duties of General Manager

1. Plaintiff admitted his duties as general manager included responsibility for producing income for the Dealership. (R. 1851.)

2. Plaintiff admitted his duties included the care and keeping of the Dealership assets. (R. 1851.)

3. Plaintiff admitted, as general manager, he had the ability to hire and fire employees. (R. 1851.)

4. Plaintiff admitted, as general manager, he was responsible for financial forecasting and budgeting for the Dealership. (R. 1851-52.)

5. Larry H. Miller testified that one of a general manager's responsibilities is to manage cash flow; that "the general manager has a lot of control over cash management within the store that makes it so he can maximize the float." (R. 2222, 2078, 2085.)

6. Dan Hartmann is First Vice President of Comerica Bank, and is the manager of the Denver office. At all relevant times, Dan Hartmann was the officer in charge of flooring for Heritage. (R. 2044-45.)

7. Hartmann testified he first met Plaintiff was in 1990 at the Dealership. At that time, Plaintiff represented to Hartmann he was the new general manager, had complete control of the affairs of the Dealership, and even had the power to fire B. Wilkinson's children, who were working at the Dealership. (R. 2059.)

8. On that same day, Hartmann met with B. Wilkinson. Mr. Wilkinson also told Hartmann that "[Plaintiff] was his man and that he had given [Plaintiff] complete control and responsibility for running the Dealership", and that he felt very good about Plaintiff's abilities to turn the Dealership, the operations, around." (R. 2059.)

9. Hartmann testified his contact with the Dealership after Plaintiff was hired and before January 11, 1991 was exclusively with Plaintiff. Hartmann had

virtually no contact with B. Wilkinson from the time Plaintiff was hired until after January 11, 1991. (R. 2052-53, 2059.)

10. Plaintiff's expert, Mark Schmitz, testified that a general manager makes advertising decisions. B. Wilkinson testified that late in 1991, he assisted with advertising at the request of Plaintiff. (R. 2314, 2261, 1932.)

11. Plaintiff regularly met with Helen Green and, at times, B. Wilkinson concerning the financial condition of the Dealership. Plaintiff had numerous discussions with B. Wilkinson concerning the lack of profit and other problems the Dealership was experiencing. (R. 1857, 2028.)

12. Saturday is the highest volume of business day in the car business, and the best sales time of each day is from 4:00 p.m. until closing. (R. 2006.)

13. Even though B. Wilkinson had the ultimate risk of liability as Dealership owner, Plaintiff, as general manager, had the control over all aspects of the operation and functioning of the Dealership.

E. Breach of Contract

1. The Dealership was not profitable during the 27 months Plaintiff was general manager. (Exs. 208 & 333.) In 1990, it lost \$295,515; in 1991, it realized a profit of only \$5,169, and in 1992, it lost \$124,980. (Exs. 208, 333, 295-297.)

2. Mr. Miller testified that his Toyota dealership, of a similar size, similar location, and an equally popular

import, was less capitalized than Heritage, yet made a profit for the years 1990, 1991 and 1992. (R. 2078, 2080.)

3. Mr. Miller further testified resources were available to Plaintiff had he maximized his day-to-day cash flow opportunities, that "Heritage had enough cash to be successful where it was." (R. 2081, 2082, 2095.)

4. Mr. Miller testified that in 1992, the cash in the Dealership "was not being managed as effectively as it could have." (R. 2081-82.)

5. The only attempt during his entire twenty-seven month tenure that Plaintiff made to train either J. Wilkinson or Jeff Gorringer was to place J. Wilkinson in financing and insurance ("F&I"). At no time did Plaintiff ever attempt to place J. Wilkinson in the Parts Department, Service Department, or in Accounting. At no time did Plaintiff give instruction to J. Wilkinson on the hiring and firing of personnel, on management of assets, on employee interviews, or other aspects of general management. (R. 2380-81.)

6. J. Wilkinson testified he received no training while in F&I. (R. 2358.)

7. In December of 1990, Heritage had in place with Comerica Bank a \$3 million loan for flooring of new cars, a capitalization loan, and a mortgage loan to Good Works Partnership. All the loans were cross-collateralized and cross-defaulted, with the Dealership providing a second guarantee to Good Works Partnership for a mortgage loan. (R. 2052-53.)

8. In spite of the cross-collateralization and default provisions, Plaintiff elected to change the flooring from Comerica to Key Bank in December of 1990. (Ex. 501.) (R. 2053.)

9. In December of 1990, Hartmann, of Comerica Bank, received a letter from Plaintiff dated December 19, 1990, notifying Comerica of Plaintiff's decision to move Heritage's new car flooring to Key Bank. (Ex. 501.) (R. 2046.)

10. Hartmann tried calling B. Wilkinson for several days after he received the letter. On January 11, 1991, Hartmann sent a letter to B. Wilkinson at the Dealership notifying the Dealership that Comerica's loan was predicated on the Dealership maintaining the floor plan financing with Comerica. (Ex. 504.) (R. 2046-48.)

11. The letter also notified the Dealership that Comerica was not prepared to subordinate its first security interest on new and used vehicles and proceeds to Key Bank. (Ex. 504.) (R. 2048-49.)

12. The Dealership became in default with Comerica when Key Bank attempted to file on the assets of Heritage that secured the Comerica loan. (Ex. 275.) (R. 2048.)

13. Plaintiff's moving of the flooring caused the Dealership to enter into a Loan Modification and Extension Agreement ("Modification"). Under the terms of this Modification, Heritage was required to pay penalties in the approximate amount of \$114,000 for moving the flooring, including

an additional one percent raise in the interest rate on Good Works Partnership mortgage, attorneys' fees incurred by Comerica from the moving of the flooring and the default, and extension fees. (Ex. 275.) (R. 2040, 2064.)

14. In or about early September 1992, Plaintiff was approached by J. Wilkinson and handed a schedule for the weeks of September 6 through October 17, 1992. Both J. and B. Wilkinson testified that J. Wilkinson prepared the schedule at the direction of B. Wilkinson. Jeff Gorringer, J. Wilkinson and Plaintiff were scheduled to work every Saturday and some evenings. Plaintiff's day off each week was Wednesday. (Exs. 1 & 2; R. 2036, 2768.)

15. Plaintiff refused to work the schedule B. Wilkinson had ordered J. Wilkinson to prepare, despite the fact that the busiest day of the week in car sales is Saturday, and the busiest sales time of a day is after 4:00 p.m. (R. 2006, 2364-65.)

16. The testimony of B. Wilkinson and J. Wilkinson is uncontroverted that Plaintiff failed to train J. Wilkinson to become a qualified dealer or manager acceptable to American Honda. (R. 1877, 2033-34; 2380-81.)

17. Plaintiff failed to enhance company morale. Pat Nichols, who was a service writer and assistant Service Manager during Plaintiff's tenure, testified that before Plaintiff was hired as general manager, his employee morale was good. He further testified during the time Plaintiff was general manager, his employee morale went down, even though Nichols was in a

higher position and earned a higher salary than before Plaintiff became general manager. (R. 2010-11.)

18. On September 11, 1992, in a meeting between Plaintiff, Helen Green and B. Wilkinson, Mr. Wilkinson asked Plaintiff for his resignation. Plaintiff agreed, saying he could get another job. (R. 1875-76, 3002.)

19. In a letter dated September 11, 1992 (Exhibit "C" to Plaintiff's Complaint), Plaintiff was notified of the termination of the Employment Agreement. (Ex. 64.)

20. Plaintiff testified he was told in a meeting with B. Wilkinson on Tuesday, September 15, 1992, that the reference to "b." and "c." in the September 11th letter referred to paragraphs "b." and "c." on p. 2, Section 1.2, of the Employment Agreement.

21. B. Wilkinson testified he fired Plaintiff for the following reasons:

- a. failure to make a profit;
- b. penalties incurred by the Dealership when Plaintiff moved the flooring from Comerica to Key Bank;
- c. inability to maintain employee morale;
- d. refusal to work Saturdays when scheduled by B. Wilkinson;
- e. failure to accurately inform B. Wilkinson of the dealings and status of the Dealership;
- f. failure to spend sufficient time to maintain and develop the Dealership;

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